1. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence introduced at trial to convict Mr. 

Stevens of the charge of child rape in the second degree as charged in count IIT. 

2. There was insufficient evidence introduced at trial to convict Mr. 

Stevens of the charge of child rape in the second degree as charged in count IV. 

3. There was insufficient evidence introduced at trial to convict Mr. 

Stevens of the charge of child rape in the second degree as charged in count V. 

4. There was insufficient evidence introduced to convict Mr. 

Stevens of the charge of sexual exploitation of a minor as charged in count VIII. 

5. The court erred in giving instruction number 13. 

6. The court erred in giving instruction number 14. 

7. The court erred in giving instruction number 15. 

8. The court erred in not giving a Petrich instruction involving

multiple acts. 

9. The court erred in instructing the jury as worded in the special

verdict form. 

10. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact number II in the

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for Exceptional Sentence. 

11. The court erred in entering Conclusion of Law number ITT

number III in the Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law for Exceptional

Sentence. 
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II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether an individual may be convicted of an offense when the

prosecutor elects to prove its case based on a specific act and the victim testifies

that it happened on another date? ( Assignments of Error # 1 & # 2) 

2, Whether an individual may be convicted of child rape in the

second degree when there is no evidence of penetration? (Assignment of Error

3) 

3. Whether a person may be convicted of sexual exploitation of a

minor when there is no evidence that the defendant caused the minor to engage

in sexually explicit conduct? ( Assignments of Error #4) 

4. Whether the " to- convict" instructions correctly stated the law

when they did not require the conduct to occur on a specified date

corresponding with the acts alleged by the state after it chose to elect? 

Assignments of Error #5, # 6, # 7 & # 8) 

5. Whether the special verdict form correctly stated the aggravating

factor set forth in RCW 9. 94A.535( 3)( g), when it omitted the words " over a

prolonged period of time "? (Assignment of Error #9, 410 & # 11) 

2



HI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A, Procedural History

Mr. Stevens was charged with six counts of rape of a child in the first

and second degree, all involving SMN. Additionally, he was charged with a

single count of child molestation in the third degree and sexual exploitation

involving SMS. CP 44 -52. After the presentation of the evidence and while

preparing instructions outside the presence of the jury, the prosecutor indicated

he intended to rely on a single act for each count involving the individuals and

the court instructed the jury accordingly. RP 689: 18- 690: 19; CP 174

Instruction Number 6). It reads as follows: 

In alleging the defendant committed the crimes of Rape of
a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the

Second Degree. The State relies upon evidence regarding a
single act constituting each count of Rape of a Child in the
First Degree and /or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. 

To convict the defendant on any count of Rape of a Child
in the First Degree and/ or Rape of a Child in the Second

Degree you must unanimously agree that this specific act
was proved. 

This instruction was given after the state initially offered a " Petrich" instruction, 

changed its mind, and stated that it would be relying on specific acts for specific

counts. RP 711: 21- 715: 3. While the defense conceded the prosecutor could

choose to elect, it objected to the " to- convict" instructions covering an

expansive time period, as opposed to a single event. RP 715: 9- 717:4; CP 181- 

183. ( See attachments 1 - 3; Instructions 13, 14 & 15). As a result, the defense
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took exception to the giving of the instruction, as well as objecting to the court' s

failure to give a Petrich
instructions. 

RP 718 :12 -15. 

Almost immediately, the state then began an argument that was virtually

at odds with the very election instruction that it had proposed and received. RP

725 -735. Rather, than electing conduct for a particular charge, it argued that

counts III and TV were alternatives to counts T and II. RP 734: 19 - 735: 18. The

defense objected. RP 735: 19 -21, After hearing argument, the court then allowed

the state to argue these as alternatives, describing counts I and III as the

birthday incident" and counts II and IV as the " babysitting incident ". RP

747: 1 - 13. Count V was designated as the " fair incident" and count VI as the

pre- Thanksgiving incident ". RP 747: 18- 25, Counts VII and VIII, which

involve SMS, correspond to the " fair incident ". 

During deliberations, the jury sent five separate notes to the court for

clarification involving the counts. CP 163 - 165; 209 -10. One of the questions

involved the very issue noted above, wherein the jury asked if counts 3, 4, 5, 

and 6 corresponded to specific incidents, to which the court responded in the

affirmative that the jury had to address specific conduct in counts III -VI. CP

163. A subsequent note again demonstrated confusion as to what the state was

required to prove as it related to count ITI ( the " birthday incident "). CP 210. 

1
State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 693 P.2d 173 ( 1984), WPIC 4. 25. The [ State] [ County] 
City] alleges that the defendant committed acts of (identify crime) on multiple occasions. To

convict the defendant [ on any count] of (identify crime), one particular act of (identify crime) 
must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has
been proved. You need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of
identify crime). WPIC 4.25. 
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The jury ultimately found Mr. Stevens not guilty of two counts of rape

of a child in the first degree ( counts I and II), rape of a child in the second

degree as charged in count VI (pre - Thanksgiving incident), as well as child

molestation in the third degree as charged in count VII. He was found guilty of

rape of a child in the second degree as charged in counts III, IV and V and

sexual exploitation as charged in count VIII. The jury also answered " yes" to

the special verdict form alleging aggravating factors for counts III -V. CP 205- 

07. The aggravating factor in this case was that there were multiple instances

over a prolonged period of time. CP 259 -260. The actual special verdict forms

read, " Did the defendant, Jeremy Thomas Stevens, engage in an ongoing pattern

of sexual abuse with the victim SMN ?" CP 205- 07. 

Based on the aggravating factor, Mr. Stevens was sentenced above the

guideline range to a minimum term of 320 months in prison based on the jury' s

finding that an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse occurred. CP 245 -260. The

actual sentencing range was 210 -280 months. CP 259. 

B. Facts

Jeremy Stevens met SMN when she was a young child. He was a friend

of her mother, Shannon Chapman. The friendship evolved into an affair which

ended in animosity. It was after the end of this relationship that Mr. Stevens

was stung by these allegations, which included allegations that he was having a

sexual relationship over an extended period of time with SMN. 

Specifically, SMN testified that she began having sex with Mr. Stevens

on the day of her
11th

birthday in April 2012. RP 361: 5 -6. She was born on
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April 28, 1999. RP 173 :21 -23. The accusations were made to the investigating

agency in the spring of 2013 when she was in the eighth grade, just prior to

turning 14 years of age, as acknowledged by her step father, Sean Chapman. RP

175 : 1 - 25. Prior to this time, beginning in 2012, when she was beginning junior

high school, she began to grow apart from her parents, she confided in Mr. 

Stevens, who then informed the Chapmans. RP 1 86 :1- 187: 8. No other problems

were apparent. RP 187: 8 - 10. The first time Mr. Chapman had any indication

that there was anything unusual going on between his step - daughter and Mr. 

Stevens was around Thanksgiving in 2012, when his wife, Shannon Chapman, 

mentioned it. RP 187: 14 -23. It was just after Mr. Stevens became a long haul

trucker beginning in the fall of 2012. RP 188: 913. This was immediately after

the Kitsap Fair, when she had stayed at the Stevens' family residence. RP

190 :9 -12. As Mr. Chapman testified, the last time his step - daughter stayed at

Mr. Stevens' residence to babysit was prior to him becoming a trucker. RP

189: 19 -29. 

SMN' s statements differed dramatically as to the when and how long the

alleged abuse started, saying it lasted over a period of three years, starting on

her birthday and the next time happening a couple of weeks later. RP 382: 20- 

24; RP 369: 1 - 6. She referenced her 11
LI' 

birthday as to when it happened. RP

361: 5 -6. She remained consistent that the birthday she was referring to was

when she turned 11 years of age and she never deviated from that date. RP

411: 14 -25. 
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She was, however, consistent that any abuse occurred when Mr. Stevens

worked at Waste Management and rented a particular residence known as the

BieImeier residence, RP 414 :11 -23. Her mother, Shannon Chapman, confirmed

this period of time. RP 265: 19 -24. Mr. Stevens rented the residence from

October 2011 thru May 2013. RP 634: 13 - 15. His belongings were moved out

after his then girlfriend, Brandi Jo McKenzie, was found staying in the

residence and was kicked out by the Chapmans after an argument including

severe name calling. RP 617: 16- 622: 10. 

While she testified that there were multiple instances of sexual

contact/ intercourse, she indicated a few instances that corresponded with

specific events. As mentioned above, one was on her birthday and then two

weeks later. A subsequent incident corresponded with the Kitsap County Fair, 

occurring in August of 2012. RP 384 -394. Finally she testified as to an incident

that occurred around Thanksgiving in 2012, but stated it happened too many

times to count when she was visiting him after the fair incident. RP 435 :1 - 10. 

As noted above, her step - father testified she never stayed with him after the

weekend fair. 

As it relates to the sexual exploitation charge involving SMS, there was

conflicting testimony as to what, if anything happened. SMS was born on June

12, 1998. RP 287:23. Thus, she would have been 14 at the time of the 2012 fair, 

She met Mr. Stevens thru SMN. RP 292:24. At trial SMS testified that she and

SMN stayed at Mr. Stevens' parents' house the night before the fair. RP 303: 

12 -16. She also testified that Mr. Stevens arrived at approximately 8 :00 pan. 
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that evening and made himself a drink. RP 304: 6- 24. In actuality, he was

working that day and did not arrive until approximately 11: 30- 12: 00. RP

580: 19 -22. His father met him and he picked up his daughter and left

immediately. RP 580: 23 - 581: 10. RP 660: 10 -24. His testimony that he did not

stay at the residence was consistent with Sean Chapman' s testimony that he was

at the house in the morning when Mr. Stevens arrived and they had a cigarette

together. RP 196: 3 -23. 

SMS, however, testified that after Stevens' parents went to bed, she and

SMN were alone with Mr. Stevens in the living room of the residence. RP

305: 3 - 24. Mr. Stevens went outside to smoke, followed by SMN, then SMS. 

RP 309: 1 - 24. She then indicated that Mr. Stevens performed oral sex on SMN

while she, at his request, kissed her. RP 310: 1 - 25. After they returned inside she

testified that he asked them to " do stuff' and SMN penetrated her with her

finger while Mr. Stevens watched. RP 316: 1- 14. She acknowledged previously

stating that he never observed anything. RP 330: 15 -18. It was also inconsistent

with SMN' s testimony wherein she stated nothing at all happened inside the

residence and the only thing that happened outside with SMS was that she

kissed her. RP 396 :10 - 397: 9. She further testified that Mr. Stevens never

penetrated her in the backyard, but that he rubbed " his tongue on the outside of

her] vagina". RP 394: 9 -21. The next day (Saturday) they all went to the Kitsap

County Fair. RP 398. 

SMN testified that the last time there was any sexual contact was prior to

Thanksgiving of 2012. RP 399:22 -24. However, this was inconsistent with her
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step - father' s testimony that she had no contact with Mr. Stevens after August. 

RP 189: 19 -29. It also diverged with Mr. Stevens' testimony that he was at a

trucking school during this time period. RP 590: 19 -22. RP 648 :16 - 652 :9. She

was consistent that whenever there was sexual contact of any kind Mr. Stevens

was working at for Waste Management. RP 415: 7 -19. Mr. Stevens, however, 

only worked at Waste Management from July 7 to August 28, 2012. RP 635: 3- 

4. This was verified by reviewing his employment records. RP 647: 15 - 19. 

Mr. Stevens denied all of the allegations. He indicated, with support

from his father, that he merely stopped by the house to pick up his daughter on

the night prior to the fair as it relates to this allegation. RP 657: 17- 660: 9. He

testified that the accusations occurred after having an affair with SMN' s mother, 

which started in July 2012 and ended in August 2012. RP 629 :20 - 633: 11. As

mentioned above, he testified that he only worked at Waste Management from

July to August of 2012 and that he was at the trucking school from October to

December of 2012. 

Ultimately, he was found guilty of three counts of rape of a child in the

second degree, two of which correspond with the birthday incident, but at a

different time than what SMN testified. The third conviction is referenced as the

fair incident. Additionally, he was found guilty of sexual exploitation of a

minor, with SMS as the victim. This was based on the testimony involving the

fair incident in August of 2012. Mr. Stevens appeals. 
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IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE CONVICTIONS

BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE

INTRODUCED TO SUPPORT A CONCLUSION THAT

MR. STEVENS COMMITTED THE ACTS FOR WHICH
HE WAS CONVICTED. 

As this court is aware, due process requires the state to prove its case

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Baeza, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646

1983). When challenging the sufficiency of evidence, this court must

determine: 

Whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most
favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact
could have found the essential elements of the crime

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

State v. Weisberg, 65 Wn.App. 721, 724, 829 P. 2d 252 ( 1992). See also State v. 

Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 ( 1980); State v. Gallagher, 112 Wn.App. 

601, 612, 51 P.3d 100 ( 2002) ( citations omitted). " A defendant' s claim of

insufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State' s evidence and all

inferences that can reasonably be drawn from the evidence." 112 Wn.App. at

613 ( citations omitted). 

Substantial evidence must exist to support the State' s case. Id. 

Substantial evidence is evidence that "' would convince an unprejudiced, 

thinking mind of the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed.'" Id. 

Thus, to convict Mr. Stevens of the three counts of child rape as alleged in

counts ITT, IV and V, the state was required to prove that Mr. Stevens had sexual

intercourse with SMN on the respective instances based on the prosecutor' s

decision to elect. CP 181 - 183. And, because the state opted to instruct the jury

10



as to specific instances, it was incumbent on the state to present substantial

evidence as to each. 

i) The State Failed to Prove Beyond a Reasonable Doubt That

Mr. Stevens Engaged in Sexual Intercourse with SMN on
Her

126

Birthday and Two Weeks Later as was Required in
Relation to Counts III and IV. 

In addressing the evidence related to counts III and IV, the court must

consider the evidence in relation to the State' s decision to elect specific acts to

specific charges. As the court is aware, this instruction was given over

defendant' s objection and further discussion resulted after the State attempted to

deviate from the instruction at the beginning of its argument. Once the

prosecutor chose to elect in this situation, which involved multiple acts, it was

required that he prove that specific act beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 

Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P. 2d 105 ( 1988)( see also State v. Kier, 164

Wn.2d 798, 194 P. 3d 212 ( 2008)). 

SMN was adamant that any sexual intercourse related to her birthday as

referenced in counts III and IV occurred when she was 11 years old, which

would have formed the basis for a conviction on counts I and TT. At no time did

she testify that he had intercourse with her on her
12th

birthday, which forms the

basis for the convictions on counts ITI and IV. And, while she testified that all of

the conduct occurred while Mr. Stevens was employed at Waste Management, 

the undisputed evidence was that he only worked there between July and

August 2012, which was several months after SMN' s birthday, which is in

April. As such, the state failed to prove the elements of counts III and TV

beyond a reasonable doubt and the court should reverse the convictions. 
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ii) The State Failed To Prove Beyond A Reasonable Doubt

That Mr. Stevens Engaged in Sexual Intercourse with SMN

During the Fair Incident (Count V). 

Count V was characterized as the " fair incident ". Mr. Stevens was

charged with rape of a child in the second degree under this count. However, 

SMN consistently testified that there was no penetration during this time frame: 

thus, there was no evidence to support a conviction of child rape. Specifically, 

she testified in response to the prosecution that he never went inside her vagina, 

only rubbing his tongue on the outside. RP 394: 9 -15. She confirmed this on

cross examination and further indicated that nothing else of a sexual nature

occurred. RP 427: 9 -19. 

Intercourse was defined as: 

the sexual organ of the male entered and penetrated

the sexual organ of the female and occurs upon any
penetration, however slight or any penetration of the
vagina or anus however slight, by an object, including a
body part, when committed on one person by another, 
whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex, 

or any act of sexual contact between persons involving
the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of

another whether such persons are of the same or

opposite sex. 

CP 176 ( Instruction Number 8). 

As there was no evidence as to penetration and the alleged contact is

vague as to specifically where the contact occurred, the court should reverse

count V, which charged Mr. Stevens of the crime of rape of a child in the

second degree related to the " fair ". 
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iii) The State. Failed To Prove Beyond A Reasonable Doubt
That Mr. Stevens Aided, Invited, Employed, 

Authorized or Caused SMS to Engage In Sexually
Explicit Conduct (Count VIII). 

In order to convict Mr. Stevens of the crime of Sexual Exploitation of a

Minor, the state was required to prove that Mr. Stevens aided, invited, 

employed, authorized or caused a minor [ SMS] to engage in sexually explicit

conduct, knowing that such conduct would be part of a live performance. RCW

9.68A.040( 1)( b); CP 196 ( Instruction #28). 

The testimony as it relates is entirely inconsistent between SMS and

SMN. SMS testified that Mr. Stevens told the two " to do something" and she

then engaged in digital penetration with SMN. Despite acknowledging that she

had previously stated that Mr. Stevens was not present, she testified at trial that

he was on the stairs and able to observe. Perhaps more importantly, SMN

denies that there was any request " to do something" and they all simply went to

bed. Under this situation, there was not enough evidence to prove the charge

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Specifically, in State v. Chester, 133 Wn.2d 15, 940 P. 2d 1374 ( 1997), 

the Washington Supreme Court held that there must be some affirmative act by

the defendant to cause the minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct. As in

Chester, none is present here. While there is some indication that Mr. Stevens

requested that the two do something, there is no request that they engage in

sexually explicit conduct. As such, the court should reverse this conviction. Cf

State v. Stribling, 164 Wn.App. 867, 267 P. 3d 403 ( Div. 2, 2011)( reversing
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conviction where there is no evidence that defendant caused the sexually

explicit behavior). 

Finally, while SMS changed her testimony as to Mr. Stevens' presence, 

there is nothing to suggest that he actually witnessed any alleged sexually

explicit conduct. In fact, taking her testimony at face value, Mr Stevens

actually questioned them as to whether it happened, stating, " He came down

from the stairs. He was, like —he was, like, `So you guys did it.' And Shania

answered `Yeah.' And that' s all I remember at the time." RP 316 :17 -19.

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