NO. 46905-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEREMY THOMAS STEVENS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 13-1-01058-3

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

STEVEN M. LEWIS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

SEKVICE

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

C. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED THAT MR. STEVENS INVITED AND ENCOURAGED A MINOR TO ENGAGE IN SEXUALLY EXPLICIT CONDUCT WITH ANOTHER.

Stevens next claims that there was insufficient evidence of causation to prove that the defendant caused the minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct. This claim is without merit because the testimony presented indicated that one minor had sexual intercourse with the other minor using her finger only after both were told that the defendant was horny, he encouraged them to "do something" and this followed an instance where the defendant had already performed a different sex act on one of the minors in the presence of the other.

SMS testified that Stevens told SMN and SMS that they should

"do stuff" together. RP 316 This followed shortly after an episode in the backyard where Stevens had oral sex with SMN while directing SMS to kiss SMN in order to keep her quiet while he had sex with her. RP 309-12. It was also immediately preceded by Stevens repeatedly telling the girls he was "horny" and "couldn't go to bed." RP 314-15. SMN and SMS went into the adjacent room and SMS testified that "she fingered me while Jeremy was on the steps, watching." RP 316. SMS testified that he was there when it happened and that she could see him while it was occurring. RP 316. Mr. Stevens then said, "So you guys did it." RP 316. SMN answered, "Yeah." RP 316. Immediately following this, he tried to enlist SMS in a threesome by asking her to let SMN perform oral sex on her while he had sexual intercourse with SMN. RP 318.

The sexual exploitation of a minor statute requires that the defendant "aids, invites, employs, authorizes, or causes a minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct, knowing that such conduct will be photographed or part of a live performance." RCW 9.68A.040. The defendant appears to argue that the evidence was insufficient for the jury to find this occurred because SMN denied it occurred and SMS had stated in an interview prior to her trial testimony that the defendant had not been present at the time of the contact. App.'s Br., 13-14. Credibility issues

^{18 &}quot;...he said that [SMN] and I should do stuff." RP 316.

are for the trier of fact, however, and the defendant had the opportunity to cross-examine SMS and SMN regarding the discrepancy at trial. *State v. Walton*, 64 Wn.App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533, *review denied*, 119 Wn.2d 1011, 833 P.2d 386 (1992); RP 330-331, 427.

The Supreme Court has held that the sexual exploitation of a minor statute requires that there be some evidence in the record that the defendant "aided (supported or helped), invited (requested or induced), employed (hired or used), authorized (empowered or gave a right) or caused (brought about, induced, or compelled) [the minor] to engage in sexually explicit conduct." *State v. Chester*, 133 Wn.2d 15, 23, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997). Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, Mr. Stevens clearly invited the sexually explicit conduct that occurred between SMS and SMN. Arguably he caused it as well but it is enough that he requested it. *Chester*, 133 Wn.2d at 23. That he did not specify with precision exactly what he wanted them to do should not alter the analysis where it is clear from the overall context of defendant's prior actions and statements that evening that he desired the minors to do something sexual in nature. RP 309-12, 316.

This court had occasion to examine the sexual exploitation of a minor statute in 2011. *State v. Stribling*, 164 Wn.App. 867, 874, 267 P.3d 403 (2011). In a case where a minor had been invited by the defendant to

take or send nude photographs but she refused to do so, the court held that the statute required that an actual photograph be taken or an actual live performance of the sexually explicit conduct occur. *State v. Stribling*, 164 Wn.App. 867, 876, 267 P.3d 403 (2011). Based on the minor's refusal to send the defendant any nude pictures, this court held there was insufficient evidence to convict the defendant of sexual exploitation of a minor under RCW 9.68A.040(1)(b).

In the instant case, unlike the situation in *Stribling*, SMS testified that sexually explicit conduct occurred while Mr. Stevens observed it happening. RP 316. Again, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it can't be said that no rational trier of fact would have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed. 2d 560 (1979). There was sufficient evidence that Mr. Stevens invited SMS and SMN to engage in sexually explicit conduct while he observed based upon the jury crediting SMS's testimony over SMN's.

D. THE "TO-CONVICT" INSTRUCTIONS IN COUNTS III, IV, AND V. CORRECTLY STATED THE LAW BECAUSE TIME IS NOT AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF RAPE OF A CHILD AND THE STATE'S ELECTION AND JUDGE'S INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY REGARDING THAT ELECTION WAS PROPER.

Stevens next claims that the "to-convict" instructions for counts III, IV, and v. incorrectly stated the law when they did not specify a specific date within the statutorily authorized time frame for the crime. This claim is without merit because time is not an essential element of rape of a child and the State properly elected four descriptively specific incidents and the jury was properly instructed they had to be unanimous as to the occurrence of the specific incident in order to convict the defendant of crime in that particular instance.

Time is not an element of the crime of rape of a child. *State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn.App. 425, 433, 914 P.2d 788, *review denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1013 (1996). "The State need not fix a precise time for the commission of the offense when it cannot intelligently do so." *State v. Carver*, 37 Wn.App. 122, 126, 678 P.2d 842 (1984)(citing *State v. Pitts*, 62 Wn.2d 294, 299, 382 P.2d 508 (1963)) Specifics regarding date, time, place, and circumstance are factors regarding credibility and are not necessary elements to sustain a conviction. *State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn.App. 425, 437, 914 P.2d 788, *review denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1013 (1996). Instead, the

evidence need only be specific as to the type of act committed, the number of acts committed, and the general time period. *Id.* It is up to the trier of fact to determine whether the testimony of the alleged victim is credible on these basic points. *Hayes*, 81 Wn.App. 425 at 438. "The test is whether the lack of specificity is prejudicial to the defendant." *State v. Carver*, 37 Wn.App. 122, 126, 678 P.2d 842 (1984)(citing *State v. Pitts*, *supra*; *State v. Long*, 19 Wn.App. 900, 903, 578 P.2d 871 (1978)).

To convict a criminal defendant, a unanimous jury must conclude that the criminal act charged has been committed. State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), modified in part by State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 405-06, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). In cases where several acts are alleged, any one of which could constitute the crime charged, the jury must unanimously agree on the act or incident that constitutes the crime. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411; Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 572. In such "multiple acts' cases, Washington law applies the 'either or' rule: "[E]ither the State must elect the particular criminal act upon which it will rely for conviction, or ... the trial court [must] instruct the jury that all of them must agree that the same underlying criminal act has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Hayes, 81 Wn.App. 425, 430-31, 914 P.2d 788, review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1013 (1996)(alteration in original)(quoting Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 411).

The trial court's failure to give a *Petrich* instruction when needed is presumed prejudicial. *State v. Bobenhouse*, 166 Wn.2d 881, 893, 214 P3d 907 (2009); *State v. Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d 509, 512, 150 P.3d 126 (2007). In multiple acts cases, "when the State fails to elect which incident it relies upon for the conviction or the trial court fails to instruct the jury that all jurors must agree that the same underlying criminal act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt," the court will find this error harmless "only if no rational trier of fact could have entertained a reasonable doubt." *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 405-06, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

The State charged Stevens in counts I and II with rape of a child in the first degree. CP 44-45. The State charged Stevens in counts III and IV with rape of a child in the second degree. CP 46-47. The incident dates for count I and II charged the defendant with committing the crime on or between April 28, 2010 and April 27, 2011. CP 44-45. The incident dates for count III and IV charged the defendant with committing the crime on or between April 28, 2011 and April 27, 2013. CP 46-47. The jury could convict the defendant of counts I and II only if it found that SMN was between 10 and 11 years old at the time of the sexual intercourse. This was done, as explained in detail above, to account for

the discrepancy in testimony regarding SMN's age at the time Mr. Stevens' first raped her.

The State clearly elected the particular criminal acts for which it relied on a conviction: the birthday incident, the babysitting incident, the fair incident, and the pre-Thanksgiving incident. RP 725-728. The jury was given the following instruction by the trial court:

In alleging the defendant committed the crimes of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree, the State relies upon evidence regarding a single act constituting each count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. To convict the defendant on any count of Rape of A Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree you must unanimously agree that this specific act was proved.

CP 174. This instruction was based on 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 4.26 (3d ed. 2014)(WPIC). The prosecutor was explicit when arguing to the jury:

These four incidents here, okay, these are separate and distinct defined incidents. I want to be clear about what they pertain to. The birthday incident pertains to count 1 or count 3. And again, that's based — if you decide unanimously that the incident occurred, okay, if you decide unanimously that [SMN] was 11 at the time of the incident, you will convict on count 1. If you decide that it occurred, and you decide unanimously that [SMN] was older at the time of the incident, she was 12, you will convict on count 3. So it's 1 or 3. The baby-sitting incident pertains to count 2 or 4, same analysis for that. The fair incident, that pertains to count 5. Pre-Thanksgiving incident, that also

pertains to count 5. (Sic) And this is important, "or." Remember that on these. It's Count 1 or 3 for the birthday incident, Count 2 or 4 for the baby-sitting incident, based on what age you find [SMN] was at the time of the offense.

RP 746-47. He corrected his error regarding the pre-Thanksgiving incident almost immediately, stating:

So I just changed that. The fair incident pertains to count 5. The pre-Thanksgiving incident pertains to count 6, just to clarify that.

RP 747. The State made a proper election and the prosecutor was specific as to what distinct incidents of the defendants' conduct he wanted the jury to examine for criminal wrongdoing.

The jury had two questions relating to these counts. In the first it asked whether counts III, IV, V, and VI corresponded to a specific incident and/or date, i.e. birthday, babysitting, fair and pre-Thanksgiving. CP 163, RP 797-799. The court correctly answered the jury's instruction with "yes." CP 163, RP 798. They next asked whether count III referred to the April 28, 2011 birthday only. CP 210, RP 8/15/14 4-7. The court responded by telling the jury to refer to the answer provided to the jury previously that answered in the affirmative whether counts corresponded to specific incidents. CP 210, 163.

Ultimately the jury delivered verdicts acquitting on counts I and II, convicting on counts III, IV, and V, acquitting on count VI and VII, and

convicting on count VIII. CP 200-02. This mixed verdict suggests that the jury was able to correctly follow the court's instructions regarding the prosecution's decision to elect specific incidents. Had the jury convicted on counts I, II, III, and IV, then it would appear rather obvious they misunderstood the idea that counts I and II were alternatives to III and IV. That did not happen here. The jury also acquitted the defendant of the specific rape of a child pre-Thanksgiving incident allegation and one of three of the charges associated with the fair incident. It cannot be said on this record that the jury was improperly instructed or hopelessly confused.

Since time is not an essential element to rape of a child, the "to-convict" instructions charging a date range were appropriate, particularly given the conflicting testimony on her age at the time of the first sexual contact. *State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn.App. 425, 433, 914 P.2d 788, *review denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1013 (1996). The State properly elected four specific incidents and the jury was properly instructed it had to be unanimous as to each incident. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

E. SPECIAL VERDICT FORM ASKING JURY TO FIND ONGOING PATTERN OF SEXUAL ABUSE WITH THAT TERM DEFINED IN A SEPARATE INSTRUCTION, IF ERROR, WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

Stevens next claims that the State was relieved of its burden of proof because the special verdict form itself did not set forth the complete definition for ongoing pattern of sexual abuse as stated in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(g). This claim fails because while the jury was not given the language of the statute in the special verdict form it was instructed on the definition in another instruction, however, even if it was error not to include the definitional language in the special verdict form this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt based on the facts of this case.

Automatic reversal is required when an omission or misstatement in a jury instruction "relieves the State of its burden to prove every element of a crime." *State v. Fehr*, 185 Wn.App. 505, 514, 341 P.3d 363 (2015)(quoting *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339, 58 P.3d 889 (2002)). "In this context, the term "every" means each and every; the error in a jury instruction requires automatic reversal only when the trial court fails to instruct the jury on *all* the essential elements of the offense." *Fehr*, 185 Wn. App. at 514. "Likewise, error in a special verdict form requires automatic reversal only when the trial court fails to instruct the jury on *all* the essential elements of the special verdict." *Fehr*, 185 Wn.App. at 514.

Jury Instruction 30 directed the jury to unanimously answer the special verdict questions associated with those counts no which they found the defendant guilty. CP 199. Jury Instruction 29 gave the following definition:

An "ongoing pattern of sexual abuse" means multiple incidents of abuse over a prolonged period of time. The term "prolonged period of time" means more than a few weeks.

CP 197. This instruction mirrors 11A Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 300.16 (3d ed. 2014)(WPIC). The special verdict form then asked the following question:

"Did the defendant, Jeremy Thomas Stevens, engage in an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse with the victim SMN?

CP 205-07.

The language omitted in the special verdict form that is found in the statute consists of the following:

"... manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time."

See RCW 9.94A.535(g). If this language is considered to be an essential element of the aggravating factor of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse, then the failure to include it would require automatic reversal. State v. Fehr, 185 Wn.App. 505, 514, 341 P.3d 363 (2015). If the court holds that the essential element is engaging in an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse

with the same victim and "manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time" merely defines what is meant by ongoing pattern then it would examine failure to include the language under the harmless error standard. *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002).

Here the jury's guilty verdicts are instructive as to whether this was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury convicted Stevens of raping SMN on or about her 12th birthday on April 28, 2011, then again approximately two weeks later and then again approximately 15 months later in August 2012. In addition to the verdicts, the jury heard testimony that the defendant had sex with her approximately 12 times per month during that time period as well as sent her sexually explicit electronic messages. RP 382, 453-55. The verdicts, in and of themselves, reflect multiple incidents over a 16-month period of time. It is difficult to see how any error here is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt based on the particular facts of this case as determined by the jury in its verdict.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Stevens's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.